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MR. JUSTICE MORLAND: Yes, Mr. Millar.
MR. MTLLAR: Members of the jury, when Mr. rrving filmed the

footage of Fikret. Alic through the barbed wire fence on 5th
August. 1-992 two crews, ITN and Channel- 4, were on its southernside; Fikret Alic was on its northern side. Behind Alic
across Lhe field that he was standing in was a cornmunity
building. The crews had arrived at [fre intersection of theroads to the south of the camp. They got. out. of their
vehicres and approached the fence and the shop by walking
northwards through a gap in the barbed wire fence in front ofthem. while the cre*i were at the fence there was a barn
behind them past which they had just walked from the south toget to the f ence by the f ield. Running up t.he east road
behind Alic and the other men was ordinary waist-high mesh
fencing. on the western side of the field that he was
st.anding in t.here was also waist-high mesh fencing. The nexLd"y, 5th August, Mr. wj-I1iams and Ms. Marshall relorted on the
camp Trnopolje. Their reports were broadcast on national
television on the evening of 5th August. Ms. Marshall,s was
shown on News at ren to many millions of viewers. None ofthis is in dispute.

There are, however, three questions about the events
on those days which are at the heart of thls trial as far as
my client.s are concerned. Firstly, when t.he footage was shoL,
was it taken from an area of the compound or an en-l-osure, asit has been described in this trial, surrounded by barbed wirefencing, part of which is in the shot of Alic? secondly, ifit. was, did the reports misrepresent Alic as imprisoned and
caged inside and by the barbed wire fence? Theie were the
words describing our case which r read out to you twice in
opening and r will do so again: "imprisoned and caged inside
and by the barbed wire fence." Thirdly, did the report.ers
compile their reports, the pictures and the words together, so
as to deliberately misrepresent Alic in this way? r want to
deal with each of these questions in t.urn before looking, as
you must, dt the words in the press rel-ease and the magazine
which are comprained of. r do so because we say that itre
answer to each of those t.hree questions is ryes'r and that
because the answer to Lhose questions is trYes'f the criticisms
of the reporters and the words complained of are bot.h true andjustified.

f turn to the first questi-on, the barbed wire fencing.
Members of the jury, we say that. the location of t.he barbed -wire fencing, and indeed the purpose for which it was put up,are now abundantly clear. you wilr reca11 that on Thursday
afternoon we looked at Mr. Deichmann,s 1,996 photographs fr6mTrnopolje. The brown rusty poles which we see in-those
photographs are clearly the poles on which the barbed wire was
hanging in a992, the same poles t.hat we have seen many timesin t.he video footage. r want to look at those photogiaphs
again with you, this. time comparing what we can see on Lhem to
some of the shots on t.he rushes. The poles that Mr. Deichmann
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saw had those rrDn shaped thi_ngs (I wil1 not come up with the
word for them) to hold t.he barbed wire in p1ace. rn tgg| he
saw that these were on the side of the pole facing away fromthe'barn. Look, for example, dt photo number 7 and at howthat barbed wire in that photograph is held to the pole.
rndeed you can see from that. photograph that. they were stil_Iholding some strands of barbed wire in December 1gg6 and t.hey
were on the poles in the famous shot in 1992, once again onthe side of the poles facing away from t.he barn, once again
holding up the barbed wire. Indeed if you look closely at thevery front page in colour of the magazj-ne complained of - iLis in your bundle at tab 5, so you have got originals - you
can see to the left the same ,D. shaped things holding the
barbed wire in pIace. rt is also quite clear, memberi ofthe jury, that the poles went ar1 the way around the barn.
we ask you when you go to consi-der your verdict to look atMr. Deichmann's photographs remembering that, as he told you,
he was taking them in sequence from photograph 1 onwards going
around the barn from the south-west where the crews arrived,
up the east side and east to west along the north side, thenfinally back down t.he west side to the south. r want. to
fo11ow with you the circumference of that enclosure in his
photographs and the two short sequences on the rushes.

Look first at photograph t-. This was taken from the
sout.h-east corner. rt shows quite clearly the poles going
around that. corner. Mr. Deichmann then went up the eist siae
and took a shot, shot 3, looking back down the road to where
he had come from. Again, the rine of the poles is there.
Now bearing those images from L996 i-n mind, let us look at theshort establishing shot of the enclosure taken by Mr. rrvingat the end of his visit, and remember this is taken from theeast road which you can see to t.he left in that photograph
no.3 .

(Video shown)

MR. MTLLAR: Freeze it there, please. Members of the jury, notewhile you look at the frozen shot the two figures up at the
road by the verge where the barbed wire fencing ends. r will
come back to them in a moment.. But the poles are exactly the
same ones as we see in photograph 3, except in 1gg2 with the
barbed wire fencj-ng and the gate between them. Mr. Dej-chmann
then went across t.he nort.h side f rom east, to west. This was
from the left as we l-ook at it in photograph 10. please take
that. photograph. The barbed wire fence in t.he Alic shot was
across this line of po1es. rf you look close1y, coming fromthe left you can see that in 199G it looks as though one of
those poles was missj-ng, the one which should be in trre
sequence the second to the 1eft, where there is a largier gap
than in bet.ween the other poIes. But as we have seen and
heard from all the wj-tnesses, the fencing along the north side
was complet.e in L992. rndeed in a moment. we aie going to lookat a shot along that complet.e line of fencing. That is in the
sequence r want to play you i-n a moment, which you will be
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very familiar with, the one with the man with water bottles
walking up to the fence at which Mr. Alic was firmed and
starting with the men on the east road carrying waler in andout of the camp.

But. before we look at that sequence I want you to
remember these points. The sequence that we are about t.olook at, start.ing with that f irst shot of the bott.les being
handed over the fence, was taken from the east road lookin!
across the north side of the enclosure. we know that not
onry because it is obvious from the shot but arso because
Mr. Irving, the ITN cameraman, pointed out in t.his
establishing shot that we have got. frozen on the screen
that t.his was the case. He explained that when f was
cross-examining him. He pointed out, if you remember, that
we can actually see Mr. James Nicholas and Mr. Hease back upthe east road taking the shot of the man with the water
bottles and along the fence that we are about to rook at.
He captured them in his own est,ablishing shot. He said : ,,The
people on the road there, that is Mr. Nicholas and Mr. Heaserr,
and r said, 'rYou are able to identify them up the road takingthe shot?", and he said, rrYes, r think the chap on the verge
in black is,Jamesrr - that is Mr. Nicholas - ,,r think it. isthat shot that you were asking about along t.he wire the otherday." so, members of the jrry, when we see the wat.er bott^1es
being handed over the fence running away from us, the sequenceis showing us the whole length of the nort.h side of the fe.rceshot from t.he east. rt is clearly continuous barbed wire
fencing on the top of the poles. rt is obvious when you
look at it. As we have seen from shot.s t.hrough the fence,
the lower part of the fence was mesh fencing but of an older
and different type to the newer criss-cross mesh fencing seen
on the east and the west of the fie1d.

The last thing I want you to note when you look at
this shot of the northern fence is the last of the pores in
t.he line, the furthest. away from you in the shot, which seems
to lean back at an angle t.owards the south. Now can we look
at that. seguence, please.

(Video shown)

MR. MTLLAR: Thank you. Members of the jury, r ask you to look at
those shots, the ones we have just seen, firstly when you cometo consider your verdict. r do so not only for what they havetold us, as r have just described, about. the north side of the
enclosure but also for what they show of the western side ofthe enclosure, to which I turn next.

rn 1995 Mr. Deichmann, having got to the north-west
corner, went down the west side to the south. please lookagain at photograph 10. He told us he went along the poles tothe right in photograph 10, which he told you ran round intothe pores which we see in photograph 1-5. At 15 they are
coming round to the right of t.he photograph, a continuous line

BEITERLSII F NENNERY
OFFICIAI, SEOR?EAND

&co
WRTTERS



1
Z
3
4
5
6
7
8
9

10
11
1,2
13
L4
15
15
1,7
1B
1,9
20

)i zt
"' 22

23
24
25
26
27
2B
29
30
31
32
33
34
35
35
37
38

,..3 9
' '] 40

4L
42
43
44
45
46
47
4B
49
50
51
52
53
54
55

of such po1es. Look back now, please, dL 1o and look closely
at that photograph, at the poles to the ri-ght of the shot.
Can you see that even in 1995 the strands of barbed wire are
here between the tops on the po1es. Look at t.he three poles
Lo the right. Look c1-ose1y also at t.he one leaning over t.o
the right, or southwards in this photograph. It is the third
from the left after that gap in the poles that I mentioned.
That may be, you think, the one at the end of the northern
part of the fence in the shots of t.he fence t.hat we have just
looked at,, where the pole leans backwards to t,he south. When
you are deliberating please also l-ook closely at this other
shot. I am not going to show it to you now but I am going
to remind you of it.. It is the shot in the Channel 4 rushes
which you will remember when Mr. Williams is interviewing men
in the field over the Iow mesh fence to t.he western side. you
will remember that in that shot, indeed in two of those shots,
we can see the north-west corner of the enclosure to the right
of the shot. Look closely at that and ask yourself whether
you can see the same leaning pole in that photograph; in ot.her
words that we are seeing the same north-western corner of t.he
encrosure but from t.he other side, outside the enclosure.

Members of the jury, I want to say a word about t.he
damaged fencing or the damage to the fencing on that western
side, the fencing that we have just seen in the background ofthe shot of the man walking with the water bottl-es. When you
look at those shots we ask you to look carefully at the
sequence of poles in the background. These are, as r say, the
ones on Lhe west side as it comes t.o the north-west corner of
t.he enclosure. Look along the areas between the poles in t.he
background. You may find that you have to do this a number of
times to get a clear pict.ure of what was there. We have done
this and r have taken up my black felt tip, which is a risky
exercise at. the best. of times, so as to have something to look
at as I try to describe what we say can definitely be seen in
those shots rat.her than by doing iL through words. you can
disregard t.his when you get. into the jury room and throw it
in the bin. You wil-l look for yourself at what you see there,
but this is what we say can be seen in those shots.

We say that you can see five stretches of wire between
six poles. rn the first two stretchbs or gaps between the
poles, which r have numbered l- and 2 in this handwritten
drawing, there are three strands of barbed wire going across.
rn the second 9ap, if you look c1ose1y, you wi-ll see that the
barbed wire j-s there because it has things hanging on it,
something that. is whit.e and something that. is darker. Indeed,
if r was right when we were looking at photograph 10, that
leaning pole that we looked at is indeed the lait one in t.he
sequence at the corner, looking at this the other way.
Although the pole between 3 and 4 was missing the stiands of
wire that I have mentioned between 1 and 2 were sti1I there.
They were the strands of barbed wj-re I asked you to look at
a moment ago. Remember Mr. Deichmann told you that that
wire that he saw in 1995 was indeed barbed wire, and. remember
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what the claimants' own wit.nesses said about t.his area.
Mr. Williams accepted in cross-examinaLion that there may
have been the remnants of a barbed wire fence along that side
of the enclosure. We say it is clear from t.hese shots.that
there was some barbed wire, three or two strands between each
of these poles. We accept, you may think, within the last
three stretches of wire before you got to t.he leaning pole
(i.e. my 3, 4 and 5) it was perhaps t.angled, perhaps had one
of the three strands missing, or was sagging, but it was there
and it. is clearly visible there on the rushes. Mr. Deichmann
did not suggest that the fencJ-ng was perfect or undamaged. In
fact, ds he pointed out when he gave evidence, in paragraph 18
of his article he actually said: ,When Marsha1l, Williams and
Vulliamy enLered the compound next to the camp the barbed wire
was already torn in several places. "

Now Iet us look at the last side of the compound.
In 1995 Mr. Deichmann returned to where he had started, to
the south side, coming from the west. Look again, please,
at photograph 15, which we looked at a momenL ago. You will
recaIl this is now looking south at the southern end'of the
compound. As l4r. Deichmann told you and as I ment.ioned a
momenL d9o, t.hese poles are in a continuous sequence running
on from t.he poles that we have seen in photograph 10. Again
look closely at photograph 15. Here again are the top strands
of barbed wire that we have seen in so many of the video shots
from 5t.h August. They are stil1 there in 1-996. The poles on
eit.her side of the transformer building in Mr. Deichmann's two
shots of the southern area in photo 1 and photo 15, t.his one,
are, as we know, where the fencing ended in L992. We have
seen on t.he Channel 4 rushes the gaps that were left between
those poles and the transformer building on each side. Do you
recall we saw those clearly on the early establishing shots
taken by Mr. Nicholas, the Channel 4 cameraman, as and
immediat.ely after the crew arrived at t.he south of the camp?
We know, because, ds I say, we have seen it a number of times,
that at the east of the transformer building this created a
gap that was big enough to walk t.hrough with a path.

I want t.o say a word also about those gaps at
the southern part of the compound next to the transformer
buil-ding. We have seen that track, the well-worn track
into t.he enclosure through t.he gap on the east side of the
building, many times. As I said, it i-s in that short clip on
the ITN News at Ten broadcast of Penny Marshall walking j-nto
the compound. The fact that Lhere is a pathway into t.he
enclosure through this gap does not mean that there is not an
enclosure or that it is not. an area surrounded by barbed wire;
it just means, ds you would expect, there is a way to get into
the enclosure. No one has ever said that, the fencing was
absolutely continuous without a break of any sort. Look again
at, paragraph 18 of the article. Again Mr. Deichmann referred
to the gap through which the crews walked.
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On 5th August 1-992, ds we have seen on Mr. Irving,s
final establishing shot looking south-west from the east.
road, there was a long shed with a sloping roof in front of
the poles t.hat we see in photograph 15 to the side of the
transformer building. The bushes or trees that are also
apparent from some of the rushes from 1-992 can be seen there
in this photograph, j-n wint,er without their leaves. If
anything, members of the jury, all of this - the long shed and
the t.rees - would have made the area, would it not, even more
obviously an enclosure in L992, separat.e and dist.inct from the
field on the other side in which the men were standing? So
this was an area surrounded by and enclosed within barbed
wire. C1ear1y, members of the jury, it had been put t.here
to encl-ose and protect the barn from which materials had
been sold before t.he war. You will recalI that this is what
Mr. Deichmann was told by witnesses that he interviewed in
L996, Misa Radulovic and Dragan Bartic. Moreover, the fencing
had obviousry been there some time. There is rust on some ofthe barbed wire in t.he shots from a992. The poles appear Lo
be o1d and, as r have pointed out to the witnesses, whenever
we see t.he bottom of t.he poles and fencing in t.he rushes there
is grass and foliage growing outside. rt is arso clear that
on the south, easL and nort.h sides the lower part of the
fencing below the strands of barbed wire was that o1d,
slightly rusty, six-sided mesh fencing that we have seen in
the close-ups from the north and the south sides. This mesh
fenci-ng, ds r have said, is quite clearly dj-fferent from the
newer low mesh fencing running along the east and the wesL
side of the fieId. What about the west side, where the
damaged fencing was? rt may be that there is no shot in the
rushes which is sufficiently clear to enable you to see one
way or another whether this older mesh fencing was there as
well on 5th August ot, if it was, what condition it was in.
But you wi,II look c1osely, we hope, ds f have asked, dL the
man walking with the water bott.les to see if you can see any
mesh fencing or remnants of mesh fencing there on the west
side. You will recall- we have suggested in cross-examination
that the whiter area under the barbed wire appears Lo us to be
some such fencing. That is a matter for you, members of thejury, but we ask you to look closely at t.hose shots.

So given that the famous shot of Alic was taken
roughly where Mr. Deichmann indicates on his plan in the
article, in the middle of the south side of the northern
fence, lookj-ng forwards towards the community building, the
answer to question 1 is clearly ,ryesrr. The barbed wire
fencing was around the area where the crews were and not
around A1ic.

I turn then to guestion 2: did the reports
misrepresent Alic as imprisoned and caged inside and by the
barbed wire fence shown in the reports?

Members of the jury, r want to say a word first about
viewing the reports when you come to consider your verdict.
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You will no doubt want to watch these carefully when you do
so. When you do, however, you will no longer be watching them
as you did the first t.ime you saw t.hem. You will be watching
them having heard two weeks of detaj-1ed evidence in court
abouL the layout of Trnopolje camp on 5th August 1-992. You
will know where each shot is taken from, what it. is of, which
fence is which. If you have any doubts about these matters,
you will be able to look at the material that you have - the
rushes, the Serb footage, Lhe satellite plan and t.he Deichmann
photographs - to try and resolve any such doubts. But. you may
forget what impressions those reports gave you the first time
you saw them wit.houL all t.his accumulated knowledge and
understanding about. the layout of the camp. Remember, members
of the jury, this is precisely how you saw them on the evening
of 5th August 1992. We want you to try and look at them that
way. The viewer on 5th August did not have your acquired
understanding. The viewer on t.hat evening knew nothing about
t.he 1ay out. of Trnopolje camp or where t.he barbed wire was
other than what could be gleaned from the words and pictures
in the reports.

Bearing that in mind, we wanL to make the following
points about the reports. _Neither report says in words or in
pictures what we now know about the location and the original
purpose of the barbed wire fence, or that the crew was inside
the enclosure when the shots were taken. There are shots of
men behind a ]ow mesh fence. In fact we know, we have seen it
through the Channel 4 rushes, iL is the one on the west side.
They appear in t.he reports. But nowhere, members of the jrry,
is there a shot of the corners of the field where this fence
meets the fence on the northern side of the enclosure. There
were such shorts on the Channel 4 rushes and we have seen
them. For al-l we know there may have been similar shots on
the lost ITN rushes.

Moreover, nowhere in the reports is there a shot of
the Alic fence, t.he nort.hern side of the compound, from the
ot.her side. For exampl-e, l-ooking back at it over the 1ow mesh
fences on the east or the west side. The result, members of
the jury, is that the viewer is left thinking that the low
mesh fence when it appears briefly in the report.s is somewhere
in the camp but nothing more. It is not linked in the reports
in any way at all to the same high intimi-daLi-ng barbed wire
fence seen in the Alic shot and a number of other shots in the
reports. The same is true of the metal fence around the
school at which fgor has shown introducing Mi-ss Marshall to
his friends 1n the News at. Ten report.. It is simply somewhere
there inside the camp

Perhaps most important.ly of all, look at the last shot
in each of the reports. It was Mr. Nicholas' rack shot, was
it not? The one taken from the south zoomingT backwards from
the fence where Alic was filmed, across the dry area of ground
immediately in front of t.he barn and ending with that
evocative close up shot of a second barbed wire fence
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immediately in front of the cameraman. In the middle of this
area, the front of the fence, apparently enclosing the men j,n
the field, you will recall there are shown two armed guards in
uniform. We know, members of the jury, that in fact Ihey are
in t.he middle of a pre-war compound to the south of the camp
in which t.here is a barn. Ask yourself : does it look like
this in the reports? Of course j-t does not. What it looks
like is perimeLer fencing, two rows of barbed wire in the
middle of which two armed guards are patrolling.

And listen carefully as well to t.he words that
accompany the pictures in the reports. Indeed, we would like
you to read the transcript.s, which you have, of the reports as
you watch the images being used. You will reca1l
Mr. Williams, telling you that reporters write what he cal1ed
"words to picturesrr. Words are written to accompany the
visual report and the reporLer takes into account what is
being shown in the pictures at the time. This is obvious.
You would not s&/r for examplerrWe then went to Trnopolje'if
the report was stil1 showing footage of Omarska. But. t.his
means that the impression received by the viewer of the images
is inevitably being influenced by what he or she hears at the
same time. The reporter who is heard has, after all, been
there and should be able to st.ate accuraLely what the picture
is showing us.

Nothing, members of t.he jury, is said in the verbal
reports to tell the viewer that the barbed wire fencing shown
is surrounding the crew, not the men in the fie1d. Indeed, in
Mr. Williams' report he actually says that. the men in the
field are forced to eat and sleep outside in a field behind
barbed wire. Surely, members of the jury, that suggests that
the barbed wire is surrounding them. And when in his report
there is for Lhe first time some mention of anything other
than "the men" or "Lhe prisoners" at Trnopolje, which is when
he speaks of refugees towards the end of his report, they are
said to be on one side of the camp. But it is not explained
to the viewer whatrron one side of the camprtmeans. The
accompanying pictures at. this point of the report are of the
sleeping areas inside the sports hal1 in the school. Look
carefully at those words and pictures, members of the jury.
Do they not suggesL to the viewer that this sleeping area j-s
somehow ent.irely separate from the men, the prisoners, behind
the barbed wire in t.he field?

A similar things happens in Miss Marshall's report.
Her report does not. show any inside shots at all. Look
closely at the sequence in that report, members of the jury,
where Igor is shown taking Miss Marshall up a road which we
know now is the east road. She says he is taking her to meet
some who had come here by choice on'tthe other side of the
camp". Again, it is not explained what this means. But,
again, is the impression that this is a place entirely
separate from the men encaged behind barbed wire in the field?
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And all of this, members of the jury, is not just amatter of detail. The Alic shot, everyo.,e is agreed, is avery, very powerful image. so powerful that Mr. williams madea point of takj-ng it from t.he rrN feed at 5.45 and cut.ting itinto the middle of his report which was due to be fed at 6.30.rt is undoubtedly a powerful symbol of imprisonment. - r will
deal with this in a moment - but the viewer also sees it as afacLual statemenL about imprisonment, a statement that "Thisman you see is a man surrounded by and caged behind this high
barbed wire fence". The message is so strong, members of thejury, that it will inevitabry be received by the viewer inprecisely this wdy, unless a clear explanation is given in
words or pictures of the true position. This did not happen.

So we say the answer to the second question is "yesr,and surely, members of the jury, the proof that we are correct
about that., that the report did represenL and misrepresent
Alic as surrounded by barbed wire, is in the reaction to t.hereports. These reports could not. and would not have been
taken as showing camps comparabre to Nazi concentrat.ion camps
unress they had suggested that Alic and the other men in thE
shot were in a camp sounded by barbed wire, just as we aIr
understand in our minds that the Nazi concentration camps were
when we reca1l them.

f turn to the third questi-on. So, two experienced
television news reports have been produced creating t.hisj-mpression, a false impression. How likely, membeis of thejury, is it that this would have happened anything other thandeliberately? The reporters had several hours to prepare
their reports in Budapest. No one has suggested they-did not
have enough time or indeed had anything ress than the usual
one hour per mi-nute of report that is the preparation time
usually required. They have tried t.o suggest t.hat when they
came t.o compile their reports they did noi even realise that.
the shots through t.he barbed wire fence had been taken from
the area where they were surrounded by barbed wire fencing.
We do not. accepL this. It cannot be true.

Let us look at the f acts. They spent somet.hing
approaching an hour at. the camp. They were not at the south
side of the fence for a few seconds. They were there for
anything between 10 and 15 minut.es, conducting j-nterviews andfilming through the fence. we hope, members of t.he jury, that
you will look closely at the sequence on the serb tape when
you are considering your verdicts. This continuous iequenceof the fence shows quite crearly what t.he rrN crew *ere doingduring the tj-me the Alic shots were filmed. while they werethere, ds we have seen from the rushes, they were in an arealittered with wheelbarrows and building brilks, drr area that
was crearly very different from the field in which the men
were standing.

After this period at the fence both groups had. to
decide where to go next. obviously they would want to get
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further northwards towards the fierd containing t.he men andthe bui-ldings they were seeing in the background. This wasprecisely what they did. The Channel 4 crew left t.he area tothe west and, they have told you, near the point where that.northern section of barbed wire fencing comes to an end. Todo thi-s, they had to pass through the line of poles which we
have seen on the shots of the man carrying the wat.er thebott.les, t.he ones that r have tried to draw j-n my diagram.
But those pictures show, do they not, that they had to pass
r.lnder strands of barbed wire the same height as the barbedwires they had just seen at the northern f,ence and between the
same sorts of poles. As we have seen, there is not one of thesections between the poles in that area that d.oes not have
some barbed wire going across along the top.

Now, Mr. Hease, the sound recordisL for the channer 4crew, had the clearest. recollection of this. you may reca11that r played him the sequence of the man approaching thefence with the wat.er bottl-es. r want to remind you of how thequestion and answer went.

"Q But you do have a recollection of coming: out ofthis area on that far side and going up to ihe westside of the camp? A. yes. If you go back a fewframes that. is it. can you see where the wire is
pushed up and bunched together?
,'Q Yes. WelI, it goes criss-cross. A. yes,
r think that's the way we went through t.here. where
they all seem to be tied up. can you see where they
seem to cross?

"MR- JUSTTCE MORLAND: ft is almost straight behind
the man?',

And on t.he shot we had at the time he said:
I'Yes. Just where the chap,s nose is now, all the
wires pushed up.

"Q As if the second strand has been pushed up to the
top strand? A. Yes, that,s it.

"Q To give a gap? A. Yes.tt

rs that. what r have shown as stretch 3 on my drawing, wherethe wire is pushed up to cris-cross the one right in trremiddle of that sequence?

In any event, surely Mr. Williarns must have
appreciated that this was the same fence at which he had just
bgg. standing for several minutes, and indeed had just walkedall the way along from the eastern end where the channel 4
crew were filming to the wesLern end. Here it was, cominground in front oi them.
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Moreover, he then went up the west side of t.he fie1d,
spending 15 or so minutes t.hbre. He must surely have looked
around at some stage and seen the area that he had just come
from, with the line of poles and barbed wire running across
the top, running easL west and then down to the south.

And whaL of t.he ITN crew? Meanwhile, ds it were, the
ITN crew had gone up the east road- None of them would have
been able to recall exactly how t.hey got there from t.he
southern side of the fence at which Alic was filmed. But we
know from their evidence and that. of the Channel 4 crew Lhat
they went straight there. They did not go out to the west.
They have accepted, &s they have to, in the light of
l4r. Irving's shots of the fence on the easL side, that. there
are only two possibl,e rouLes. Either they went through the
gate on to t.he east road or they went back out the way they
came up, through the gap to the south.

I want to look at each of those possibilities. If
Penny Marshall went back through the same 9aP, is it
concej-vab1e that she never asked herself why she was having to
do thaL to get out on to the east road; that she would not
have not.iced the same fencing through which they had been
conducting her interviews was at the gap through which they
were going back to the south, and then was running alongside
her, along the east road. Remember, members of the jury, if
she had got out that wdY, she would have passed t.his eastern
stretch of barbed wire fencing, noL once but twice to get up
the east road at this stage, because she would have walked
back down the inside of iL, out on to the road at the south,
round the south eastern corner and back up the outside of it
on the east road.

Let us look at the other possibility. The crew went
out of the gate. Woul-d they not have asked themselves why
they had to go out of the gate and the barbed wire fenci-ng to
get on to the easL road? Would it not have been obvious to
her, as it from the rushes, that this was a gate to let
vehi-c1es into the area where the barn was and where she had
been filming? However she got out, how could she have walked
up the east road, alongside the eastern side of the field and
the Iow mesh fence without ever looking to see why the fencing
was so completely different on this side of the field?

Members of the jury, t.his is not the end of it. Both
reporters came back down the east road with their crews when
they came to leave the camp. They walked alongside that
stretch of fencing that we have just seen today, Mr. Irving's
final establishing shot. And before they compiled their
reports they would have looked at their rushes, Do doubt with
care, to see what they showed and what might. be worth using in
their reports. They may even have been able to start studying
and thinking about them on a monitor or playing them back on
their cameras before they got to Budapest, although they were
at pains to deny that this was the case. After all, would you

11
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not expect two crews with 4O0 kilograms of eguipment bet.ween
them t.o have had some sort of facility to play back the
rushes?

Sue Inglish, the Channel 4 foreign editor, said, when
f cross-examined her, that she assumed they had taken a
monitor with them to Belgrade. Mr. Braddel, the producer of
t.he Channel 4 crew told you of discussions before Budapest.
about "pictures taken aL the camp'r. Mr. Jermey, the head of
ITN's foreign news said t.hat he stood by his stat.ement that.
Miss Marshall had phoned him from Belgrade and outlined rthe
pictures her cameraman had filmed". Now, both of these
ioitnesses claim that by the word 'rpictures'r they meant the
footage that they t.hought they had. But would they realIy
have referred to "picLures'r if this is what they had meant?

Whenever they reviewed t.hose rushes, members of the
jury, they would have seen the enclosure quite cIear1y. The
Channel 4 rushes showed the south, east and north side of the
enclosure in the early establishing shot.s. The shots of the
man carrying water to the northern fence show the west side.
We do not know whether Mr. Irving had any early shots showing
the barbed wire enclosure to the south. The ITN rushes of
t.heir period in the south of the catnp at. the sLart of their
vj-sit have of course been lost.. You may t.hink, members of the
jury, that he probably did have such shots. He was certainly
thorough, was he not, in recording the area that. they went to
in the north of the camp on the rushes that we do have. But
even on his rushes, even the ones that remain, we have his
final establishing shots showing the enclosure round Lhe barn,
as we have seen them this morni-ng, panning round from the east
road across the whole of the eastern side of t.hat enclosure
road, gate, barn, fencing. It is perfectly c1ear. So their
viewing of their rushes before they compiled their reports
would have reminded them of t.he barbed wire enclosure they had
seen the day before when they were there.

Again, members of the jury, look at the footage of
Penny Marshall when her car stops after arriving at the camp
on her return five days later. Does she not seem Lo indicate
precisely with her hand the compound area shown in those final
ITN establishing shots when she makes her comment about the
fence having come down? Does not her gesture and her words
mean that she understood ful1 well when she returned five days
later where the barbed wire fence had been?

So, members of the jury, we say they did deliberately
misrepresent AIic as being surrounded by the barbed wire in
this way. We say the reason'why they did this is cIear. The
world wanted to know whether allegations of concentration
camps in northern Bosnia could be substantiated. Mr. Shields
told you as much in his opening. Their reports were compiled
and indeed presented by them i-n such a way as to emphasise to
the viewer a comparison between these camps in the report and
Nazi concentration camps. When you consider your verdicts,
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I ask you to look closely at their own words on television on
5th August. Do you recall what Ian Willi-ams said in his "as
1ive" inLerview immediately after his report? He referred to
the five camps on Lhe Bosnian Muslim list of 'rconcentration
camps" which the crew had seen when they were in Serbia, and
he said t.his:

"Now we are convinced, we are satisfied that. these are
not concentration camps. 'l

That. is the five in Serbia.

"At most they are refugee collection centres. The
area that does give a matter of great concern is in
northern Bosnia in the area of Banja Luka. "

His report had just ended seconds before by reminding the
viewer that Trnopolje camp j-s near Banja Luka. Is this not
telling the viewer that the camp t.hat has just been shown may
be a concent.rat.ion camp? And look at what Penny Marshall said
without pictures in her telephone interview at lunchtime on
5th August. She said that t.he image - that was her word - of
the canteen in Omarska was "reminiscent of something very
sinister indeed". In cross-examination she accepted, as she
had to, that by this she meant a concentration camp. Was this
interview not in part intended to int.roduce viewers to the
j-mages that were Lo come that evening on her report, to the
idea that. they would be seeing images reminiscent of
concentratj-on camps?

Then, members of the jury, remember the very first
sentence in her report. on News aL Ten:

"The Bosnian Serbs do not call Omarska a concentration
camP. "

"The Bosnian Serbs do not call Omarska a concentration campr' -
is this not a way of saying: "WelI, it might be"?

Aft.er her report had been broadcast on the same News
at. Ten programme she spoke of the camps on her rras 1ive"
int.erview to camera and this is what she said:

trI don't t.hink we have conclusive evidence that there
are mass executions t.aking place or even extermination
camps.rt

"I don't think we have conclusive evidence that t.here are mass
executions taking place or even extermination campsr' -
extermination camps, members of the jury. In cross-
exarnination I asked her what she meant by this, and this is
what she said: "Where people were herded together and
kil1ed". ft was not a simple answer, concentration camps.
Again, does not this comment of hers suggest to t.he viewer
that they have or may have seen some such evidence?
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It is_hardly surprising, is it, members of the jury,
that after all this the Brit.ish tabloids and many others roundthe world felt that t.hey could compare these camps t.o
concentration camps, to Auschwitz and Belsen.

11.15 a-m-

As one of your questions pointed out, members of the jury, thetabloids might. be said to have misrepresented the cami toiren
they did this but the question is why did they feel able to d.ot.his. As their picture splashes on t.he front page show, it
was the reports and the understanding that the Alic shot
showed men in a camp comparable to a Nazi concentration campthat enabl-ed them to do this "

The reporLers did not in fact. have any imagespowerfully reminiscent of Nazi concentration "a*pr. The first
camp they visited omarska. Look closery at the iushes ofthose camps. There is no barbed wire anywhere. Do not takethis from me. Remember what Mr. Baker, eenny Marshall,s
proglramme edit.or, said in that article that r have put to you

He told us he had reviewed all the ITN rushes on
5 August when he arrj-ved in Budapest, including those from
Omarska. He wrote this:

trr advised that the image that would shape the world
was of skel_etal men behind barbed wire. "

He told you in t.hi-s court, when he saw those Alic shots, he
was prompted to ask, "Could this be described as a
concenLration camp?rt Do you reca11, members of the ju.y, t.hatr put it to him that there were three component parts oi that
image that conveyed thi-s powerful message, skeleLal man,
barbed wire, in behind barbed wire- Have I got. that right?
Answer: yes.

It was the AIic image, members of the jury, which
enabled the reporters to make these suggestions on E August.
They used it as a sensational image of suffering, knowing thatit. would leave in the viewer's mind the thought that thi; camp
was somehow comparable with a Nazi concentration camp.

The Al-ic image could onry do this if iL was used inthe report. i-n a way which suggested that the barbed wire
surrounded the men, like a Nazi concentration camp. rt couldnot, could it, members of the jury, if the report t.old thetruth that the wire was in fact. around the cameraman and penny
Marshall ?

of course, Mr. williams and Ms. Marsharl were at painsto suggest that they did not see t.he image in this way. Tothem, it was in some unspecified way a p6werfur image'or a
symbol of the suffering of the men in the field but can t.hey
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have been Lhe only ones noL to see this when so many others,
even their own colleagues at ITN, seem to have seen this
immediately,. or were they trying to distance themselves from
the obvious conclusion that they were aware of and had this
comparison between the image and a concentration camp in mind
when they chose to give such prominence to this image.

Was not Ian Will-iams sti1l deliberat.ely
misrepresenting the location of the fence when he wrote his
article in The Sunday Express a few days 1ater, when he said
there was a field surrounded by barbed wire and behind it
hundreds of men? Surrounded by barbed wire.

Members of thq jrry, I now Lurn to the words of which
complaint is made and f ask you to look first, please, dt the
articl-e which is at tab six in the claimanLs' bundle. Look
first, please, dL the headline and the text immediately below
the headline: rThe picture that fooled the world."

"This image of an emaciated Muslim caged behind Serb
barbed wire, filmed by a British news team, became a
worldwide symbol of the war in Bosnia. But the
picture is not quite what it seems. German journalj-st
Thomas Deichmann reveals the fuIl story. "

These words made cfear, did they not, members of the jury,
from the outset t.he art.icle is about. the picture? fL is about
the image of Fikret Alic. That is what this is telling the
reader. You are able to read an article that is about t.he
picture and the image.

Look next at. paragraPh one:

"The picture reproduced on these pages is of Fikret
Alic, a Bosnian Muslim, emaciated and stripped to t.he
waist, apparently imprisoned behind a barbed wire
fence in a Bosnian Serb camp at Trnopolje. It. was
taken from a videotape shot on 5 AugnrsL J.992 by an
award-winning British television team, Ied by Penny
Marshall (ITN) with her cameraman ,Jeremy Irvin,
accompanied by Ian Williams (Channel 4\ and the
reporter Ed Vulliamy from the Guardian newspaper. "

Straight away, members of the jury, in paragraph one the text
makes cl-ear that the issue raised by the article is whether
AIic was imprisoned behind the barbed wire fence, 3s suggested
by the image, by t.he picture; not. whether he was imprisoned at
Trnopolje, full stop. Paragraph one does not say that. rr...
apparently imprisoned behind a barbed wire fence ... 'r. That
is the issue. Is t.hat shown in the pict.ure?

In paragraph two, j-t is emphasised that this image is
what is being guestioned which is misleading. rt says:
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'rFor many, this picture has become a symbol of thehorrors of the Bosnian war - ,Belsen ,92, as one
British newspaper headline captioned t.he photograph(Oaily Mirror, 7 August A992). But. that image is
misleadj-ng. "

I repeat: j-t is the image that is being questioned by the
article. rt is the j-mage which is said to be misleading.
Paragraphs three and four state the cent.ral facts as we haveput them in this tria1. I want to read them to you:

"The fact is that Fikret Al-ic and his ferlow Bosnian
Muslims were not imprisoned behind a barbed wire
fence- There was no barbed wire fence surrounding
Trnopolje camp. It was not a prison, and certainly
not a 'concentration camp,, but a collection centre
for refugegs, many of whom went there seeking safety
and could leave again if they wished.
I'The barbed wire in the picture j-s not around the
Bosnian Muslims; it is around the cameraman and thejournalists. rt formed part of a broken-down barbed
wire fence encircling a sma1I compound that was nextto Trnopolje camp. The British news team filmed frominside this compound, shooting pictures of the
refugees and the camp t.hrough the compound fence. rnthe eyes of many who saw them, the resulting pictures
left the false impression that the Bosnian ttuilims
were caged behind barbed wire."

The central facts, ds we have put them in this triaI. rndeed,
exactly the same form of words is used as in the firstparagraph. A1ic, it is said, was not imprisoned behind the
barbed wire fence; not that he was not i-mprisoned, fulr stop-

Remember, members of the jury, what I emphasised to
you in opening. rt. is no part of the defendantsl case that
these men in the field were or were not being forcibly
detained in the camp at rrnopolje. Nor does the artille that
Alic was not det.ai.ned in this way on 5 August. paragraph four
emphasises t.hat there was no barbed wire surrounding-trnopolje
camp. ft explains the truth, as we put it to you at thistrial, abouL the barbed wire fencj-ng, about it surrounding the
cameraman and the journalist.s.

Look on, members of the jury, to paragraphs 17 and 1g.
can r ask you to look at these by use of the plan next to 1gon page 28? Those paragraphs give more det.ail about what we
have just read in t.hree and four.

"To film Lhese refugees, Marshall and her cameraman
frvin ent.ered a compound next to the camp area.
rnsi-de this small compound were a kind of garage shed,
an electricity transformer station, and a brick barn.
Before the war, horticurtural products could be bought.
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there and tracLors and construction machinery had been
housed in the barn. To protect all this from thieves,
the compound area of approximately 500 square metres
had been fenced in with barbed wire a couple of years
before- The erection of the barbed wire fence had
nothing to do with the refugees, Lhe camp or the war.
The poles to which this barbed wire was attached are
still standing today, and traces of the wire can be
found on the west side of the compound.

"When Marsha11, Williams and Vulliamy entered the
compound next to the camp, the barbed wire was already
torn in several places. They did not use the open
gate, but enLered from the south through a gap in the
fence. They approached the fence on the north side,
where curious refugees quickly gathered inside the

. camp, but on the outside of the area fenced in by
barbed wire. It was through the barbed wire fence at
thj-s point that the famous shots of Fikret. Alic were
taken. "

There is the plan which shows exactly what, the reader is being
told in those paragraphs. Members of the jury, you may think
that. the plan is not absolutely perfect in every det.ail.
Perhaps you may think that the low fencing on t.he east road
goes a little further up the easL road towards the community
building, perhaps in the form of that low metal fence than
does Mr. Deichmann's dotted line- The purpose of the pJ-an,
members of the jury, is to illustrate the central point in the
text, is it not, that the barbed wire fence was around the
crew, not the men in the fie1d.

The crucial detail about the plan is t.he bottom part
of it, the drawing of the location of the barbed wire fence
which is correct and the indication of where Penny Marshall
took the picture from.

(Adiourned for a short time)

Members of the jury, wo were looking at the article and you
will reca1l that the claimants have tried to make much of the
statement in paragraph three in the article:

'r It was not a prison and certainly not a
'concenLration camp', but a collection centre for
refugees, many of whom went Lhere seeking safety and
could leave again if they wished. "

You may want to ask yourselves why. As I have said, it is
obvious to anyone who reads the rest of the article that the
key point is that this was not a concentrat.ion camp, ds we all
understand that term from our knowledge of the Second World
War.
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Paragraph five in the very first. sent.ence explains
almost immediately to the reader how the pictures ,"?" wrongly
seen around the world as the first hard evidence of such ""ilp"i-n nort.hern Bosnia.

11.45 a.m.

Bear this in mind when you consider the points theclaimants make about that statement in paragraph three:neither reporter described it. as a prison in their reports.
rndeed, Penny Marshall in her report described Trnopolie as arefugee centre. The presence of armed guards at rrnopor3e aianot lead her to describe it as a prison. you *ay recllI that,as Mr. Deichmann pointed out to you on Friday, you may thinkquite obviously correctfy, many refugee campi in civil war
zones will have armed guards. This does nol make themprisons. Nor indeed did Dr. Merdzanic describe it as a prisonin his evidence last week. He slJnply described it as a camp.Yes, he described terrible, terrible things that happenedthere, and we did not challenge hj-s evidence on thii-. we donot question it now. But he did not try to describe thatchaoti-c camp cont.aining the various buildi-ngs and the manypeople, men women and children who we have ieen on the rulhes,in a single simple word. And, members of the jury, he mostcertainly did not describe it as a concentration .r*p.

Moreover, both reporters said in their reports thatthere were people who had come to the camp voluntirily. Doyou reca11 they were described as refugees. ran williams saidthey were refugees who "had nowhere el-ie to go,' . Ms. Marshallsaid some had "come here by choice; t.hose who had run fortheir lives to this pitiful campr'. what does this mean if notthat they had gone there seeking safet.y, as para.3 ofMr. Deichmann's article states?

We would ask you to find, members of the jury, aftereverything you have heard and seen on the rushes,-thi.t theseparagraphs and this stat.ement is carefufly and accuratelyworded. Paragraph 3 does not say that everyone there fromTrnopolje on that day courd leave j-f they wished. rt sayst.hat people such as these, t.hose who had gone there seekingsafet.y, could l-eave agai-n if they wished, though no doubt attheir own risk.

There, members of the jury, in the first fiveparagraphs of the article, you have the basis of the defenceas you have heard it at this triar. The pictures in thereports did leave a false impression that the Bosnian Muslimswere caged behind the barbed wire, and. the world did react by
seeJ-ng an image of a Nazi concentration camp.

r now move on Lo paras.12 and 13 which Mr. shields
suggests are particularly important in rrN, s claim. Membersof_the jury, one of the ways in which lawyers describe a
defamatory statement i-s as one which contains an imputation
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which would Lend Lo lower the person in the estimation of
right-thinking members of society. His Lordship, from whom
you must take the law, will explain to you that a company can
be a person defamed. It has a trading character as a company
and for this reason a reputation which may be injured by a
defamatory statement. But ITN, the compaolr must. be defamed.
It is not enough simply for its name to be present in the
words complained of. There must be a meaning wj-thin those
words which contains such an imputation in respect of the
company. As I explained in my opening, we do not accept that
ITN, the company, though referred to, has been defamed by the
words complained of.

Certainly these paragraphs, 72 and 13, do state that
ITN and its editors want.ed the story of the camps in northern
Bosnia, that they sent the crews to get it, without being
distracted by other stories. But, ds I put it in my opening,
why is it defamat.ory of a large news-gathering organisation to
say that it was keen for it.s reporters to get a story that the
whole world was interested in. Remember again what
Mr. Shields said in his opening - there was considerable world
attention as to whether the concentration camp allegations
could be substantiated. We repeat, these photographs say
nothing more than the ITN editors were doing their job. There
is nothing defamatory of ITN in that. We also repeat this:
we have not set out to prove that there was some sort of
conspiracy to compile misleading reports involving all the lTN
employees who ever had anything to do with these report.s,
whether in London or in Bosnia, or indeed any of them.
Because the words complained of do not say this. The word
"conspiracy" does not appear anywhere in the article.

Let us move on, members of the jury, still within the
words of t.he article. The claimants point to para.21 and
emphasise t.he words "camera angles and editing". LeL us read
what is said:

"Yet an important. element of that 'key image' had been
produced by camera angles and editing. The ot.her
picLures, which were not broadcast, show clearly that
the large area on which the refugees were st.anding was
not fenced-in with the barbed wire. "

Now, just pause there, pause at. that point.. The words trcamera
angles and editing" in para.21 are not designed to be taken in
isolation. They are designed to be taken in conjunction with
t.he facts that fo1low and the facts that have been 1ed earlier
on in the afternoon. Moreover, it is not. being said here, oy
indeed in the press release where these words appear, that the
footage has somehow been falsified or fabricated. The words
"falsified and fabricated" do not appear anywhere. What is
said - look at it closely - is that an i-mportant element. of
that key image had been produced in this way. An important
element of that key image. And, read in Lhe context of the
article as a whole, the meaning of these words is clear. The
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important element is the false impression that Alic is cagedbehind barbed wire. The very next sentence that we have Justlooked at in para.21 states that the rushes conLain othershots which show that this was not the case. so it is t.he wayin which the shot is used in the reports to create an image oiAlic surrounded by barbed wire fencing like a prisoner in aNazi concentration camp t.hat is the centrar crlticlsm of the
t.wo reporters in the arLicle.

It was Mr. Williams and Ms. Marshall who had theresponsibility for ensuring.that, the reports at rrnopolje
which they sent back in their names and with t.hei_r v-oices didnot mislead in this way. As Ms. Marshall put it, ,'Lhe buckstops with merr,. As you know_, we say that trre art.icle sugigeststhat through their reports they deliberately misl_ed in t[is
way.

rn putting together their reports on 6th August 1,992Mr. williams and Ms. Marshall - and r will read agaln the
words that I read you in opening:

".. had compiled televisj-on footage which deliberately
misrepresented an emaciated Bosnian Muslim, FikretA1ic, ds being caged behind a barbed wire i.r"" in aserbian-run Trnopolje camp on 5th August 1-992 by thesel-ective use of video tape shots of him.,r

rn opening, Mr- shields took you also to paras.5 and 37.
Paragraph 6, you wilr recaII, is t.he one that contains thestatement of the claimants-

'r - - - none of them has tord the fulr- story about that
barbed wire fence which made such an impact on worrd
opinj-on. ,'

Paragraph 37, which is a few pages on, was the one which
cont.ained the statement, again at the end of the paragraph:

,,Despite her plea of objectivity [that is of
Ms. Marshalll, however, she did not explain how ,that
image' of Fikret Alic behind barbed wire had been
produced by her team. r'

By these paragraphs we accept and say that the article was

"1p9. 
sayj-ng that the two reporters rria failed to explainpublicly that the shots were of tr'ikret Alic standin! outside abarbed wire fence which surrounded the area from whlch the

cameraman was- filming, when the misleading image of FikretAlic was widely interpret,ed as evidence that gosnian serbswere running Nazl-sty1e concentration camps. And we say thatthey ought, in the circumstances r have oi:tIined, to havegiven such a public explanation but discreditably failed to do
so.
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We say that those meanings are true, members of the
jury. rt is not. dispute that they did not give such an
explanation. And, as responsible journalisLs, they ought to
have done so because it is wrong, as Mr. Hume said, to
deliberately use an image t.o suggest. that this camp was
comparable to a Nazi concentration camp. Remember what
Mr. Hume said:

"This distorts and degrades oun view of the past. The
holocaust is an absolutely unique horror in history,
the great crime of the 20t.h i-ndustry and if you start
putting it on a par with civil wars of today you can
only diminish its horror, I think, and you do a
disservice to the victims of the holocaust by making
those kinds of inappropriate comparisons.'t

This, members of the jury, was one of t,he reasons why he felt
it was important to run the story in a magazine. The other is
clear from his editorial on p.5 of the magazine. This is at
t.he back of t.ab 6. Members of t.he jury, we say that this
editorial does not add to any of the criticisms of the
reporters contained in the artj-cIe. Indeed, we say, and you
may think, it is entirely separate from the article. It does
not mention the reporters. Rather, it deals with the wider
issue of principle about war report.ing. Should war reporters
stand neutrally between good and evil or should they have an
att.achment as journalists, as Mart.in Bel1 puts it, although
many others subscribe to that view. Mr. Hume feels strongly,
and he to1d you, that war reporters who report in this way
with that attachment run the risk of degrading journalistic
standards and compromising their objectivity as reporters.
But he told you, and indeed it is apparent when you make the
comparison, when part of t.his editorial "First casualLy?" was
transposed to the press release as a quoLe from him, the words
'rto one side" after the word "attachmentrt were removed. Look
at the press release which is at tab 4. Look at the quote at
the bottom and compare it, as it were keeping your finger in
both tabs, with the second paragraph from the end in the
editorial . The edit.orial says:

'If they are not very careful, journalists who have
some kind of emotional 'attachment' to one side can
end up seeing what they want to see, rather than what
is real1y Lhere. "

But in the press release, which is about. t.his particulaq
article and t.hese particular reporters, reads:

"If they are not very careful, journalists who have
some kind of emot.ional 'attachment' in a conflict can
end up seeing what they want to see. 'l

He told you that he was responsible for removing those words
from the quote when it was used in the press release. We say
that this gives the quote in t.he press release a very
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different meaning. It does not say or suggest that the
reporters too)< srdes in tavour of the Muslims and against the
Bosni-an Serbs.

Nor, members of the jury, is this said anywhere in the
art.icle. Like the article, the press release which we have
just looked at sets out clearly the basic facts about the
barbed wire fence surrounding t.he film crew, not the men in
the field. Look at the bullet points, as t.hey are called,
next to the 1itt.Ie dots. There they are in the buI1et points,
the basic facts abouL the barbed wire fence sounding the film
crew, not the men in the fieId.

And the press release repeats the central criticism of
t.he reporLers, that the image was used in their report.s in a
misleading way - one that did not make this cIear, did not
make clear what t.he reader is being tol-d j-n those bullet
points. Agai-n, members of the jury, we say it contains the
same meanings as the magazine, nothing more and nothing 1ess.

A few final words, members of the jury. When he came
to run the article, Mr. Hume did not contact the reporters.
He admits this and he has explained why. He believed that ITN
would try to suppress what he believed was a true and
important st.ory. Did not subsequent events show him to be
correct? We have seen how ITN did react when the press
release was put out before the magiazine had even been
published. Through it.s solicitor it demanded that aII copies
of the magazine shoul-d be pulped. And he has told you how the
solicitors' Ietter gave rise to, and t.hese are his words:

"A campaign, if you 1ike, amongst supporters of my
magazine against their attempt to suppress our story.
The campaign is a free speech campaign against the
atLempts of the claimants to silence LM magazine. The
campaign is not a personal campaign against the two
ITN journalisLs or anyone e1se."

Members of the jury, the rights or wrongs of that. campaign are
not being tried here. His Lordship will direct you as to how
act.ions of the def,endants after publication may have added to
or aggravated any damage done to the claimants by the
publication. But we hope that you will bear this in mind in
dist.inguishing what the defendants did after publication from
things like the Golden Gag and the leafleting which. Mr. Hume
explained were undertaken by those supporters without his
involvement as part of this campaign.

We hope you will also bear one ot.her point in mind on
damage should you come to consider it. Apart from some early
phone cal1s to ITN executives, or CNN or BBC, there is no real
evidence that. the press release had any great effect. There
is no evidence of any newspaper or television coverage of LM's
story in the days after the press release
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